IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IAN ANDRE HAGER,

No. 72613 Electronically Filed Aug 16 2017 12:55 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in Case Number CR16-1457 The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Honorable Scott N. Freeman, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 4925
JOHN REESE PETTY
Chief Deputy Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 10
350 South Center Street, 5th Floor
P.O. Box 11130
Reno, Nevada 89520-0027
(775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on February 9, 2017. 1JA 185-86 (Judgment). Appellant, Ian Andre Hager (Mr. Hager), timely filed a notice of appeal from that judgment on March 10, 2017. 1JA 187-88 (Notice of Appeal). This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals because it involves jury-based convictions on category B felonies. NRAP 17(b)(2). The Nevada Supreme Court should retain and hear this appeal because, among other things, this appeal:

• Presents the Court the opportunity to decide an issue it left undecided in *Byars v. State*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 336 P.3d 939, 947 (2014)—what constitutes "use" sufficient to support being an unlawful user or addict in possession of a firearm under NRS 202.360(1)(c);

¹ "JA" stands for the Joint Appendix. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1). The number preceding "JA" represents the Volume number.

- Presents the Court a question of first impression—what constitutes "adjudicated as mentally ill" for purposes of the prohibited person element of NRS 202.360(2)(a);
- Presents the Court the opportunity to state the criminal intent element of NRS 202.360 because although a criminal intent is not specifically mentioned in NRS 202.360, such intent cannot be entirely dispensed with; and,
- Presents the Court jury instruction questions that relate to the issues listed above.

These issues are properly before the Nevada Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11). Accordingly, the Nevada Supreme Court should keep and decide these and the other appellate issues presented in this appeal.

III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. Was the evidence presented at trial constitutionally sufficient to support the "prohibited person" element of all six charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt?
- B. Although NRS 202.360 does not expressly state a criminal intent element, can Mr. Hager be convicted of the charged offenses if he truly believed—based on the facts of this case—that he could possess firearms that had recently been returned to him by law enforcement?

- C. Did the district court err in instructing the jury on the elements of the offenses where the instructions were misleading, confusing, and wrong?
- D. Did the district court err in allowing the State to use videos in its rebuttal case where the videos had previously been deemed inadmissible and the predicate for their use now was suspect?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction. The State charged Mr. Hager with six felony counts. The first three counts charged category D felonies under NRS 202.360(2)(a) for his being in possession of a firearm "having been previously adjudicated as mentally ill in the Sixth and/or Second Judicial District Courts of Nevada and committed to Mental Health Court, or after having been committed to any mental health facility." 1JA 1-3 (Information). The next three counts charged category B felonies under NRS 202.360(1)(c) for his being in possession of a firearm "while being an unlawful user of, or addicted to, any controlled substance." *Id.* at 3-5.

Counts I and IV alleged the firearms to be a "Bushmaster .223 caliber assault rifle" and a "Winchester 20-gauge shotgun"; Counts II and V alleged the firearms to be a "Navy Arms handgun" and a "Colt 1911 handgun"; and Counts III and VI alleged the firearms to be a

"Sears & Roebuck shotgun" and a "Ruger .22 caliber rifle." *Id.* at 1-4. All six counts were alleged to have been committed between November 6, 2015 and April 8, 2016 in Washoe County, Nevada. *Id.*

A jury convicted Mr. Hager of all six counts. 1JA 179-84 (Verdicts); 5JA 996-98.

At Mr. Hager's sentencing hearing the district court imposed concurrent sentences of 19 to 48 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections on each count. The district court credited him for 307 days in predisposition custody. 1JA 185-86 (Judgment). The district court also imposed required fees and assessments and ordered Mr. Hager to reimburse Washoe County \$500.00 for legal representation. *Id*.

Mr. Hager appeals from his convictions. 1JA 187-88 (Notice of Appeal).

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS²

A.

The State charged Mr. Hager with six counts of possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. The State alleged that Mr. Hager was prohibited from possessing firearms because he had been previously

² Additional facts specific to a particular argument are contained that that argument's section of this Opening Brief.

adjudicated as mentally ill in the Sixth and/or Second Judicial District Courts of Nevada and committed to Mental Health Court, or had been committed to a mental health facility; and that he was an unlawful user of, or addicted to, a controlled substance. On the first day of trial Mr. Hager's defense counsel offered to stipulate "to the element of possession of the firearms in this case." 2JA 203. Counsel stated:

We would stipulate that Mr. Hager was in possession of all of the charged firearms during the time that it's charged. We would also agree to a jury instruction that says that if the State proves all of the elements other than possession beyond a reasonable doubt the jury must convict him, because we would agree — we would stipulate to the fact that he would have possession.

Id. Based on that stipulation defense counsel asked the court to "exclude the Facebook videos that the State intends to introduce to show that he had possession during that time, because we would agree that he possessed them and that he was in continuous possession of those firearms during the time that the Facebook videos were made, but more importantly during the time that he was charged in the information." Id. at 203-04. The prosecutor did not accept the stipulation. Id. at 206.

In February 2016 Scott Johnson, a detective in the Reno Police Department, met with Mr. Hager to discuss a past investigation regarding the death of Mr. Hager's older brother, who had died in 2012. 3JA 539-41. Mr. Hager was consumed about the investigation because he believed his brother had been murdered. 3JA 550. Detective Johnson was not familiar with the case and promised to look into it. Detective Johnson later reported to Mr. Hager that the investigation was closed and that the conclusion appeared to be that his brother died as a result of a combination of methamphetamine overdose and accidental conduct. 3JA 542, 548-49. They had additional communications afterwards. On March 31, 2016, Mr. Hager sent the detective a link to an entry on his Facebook page, containing a video posted on February 28, 2016. 3JA 543-47, 552-59. Detective Johnson passed this information over to the Sparks Police Department. 3JA 572-73.

On April 5, 2016, in response to Detective Johnson's information, Sparks Police Sergeant (then detective) Christopher Rowe viewed videos Mr. Hager had posted on Facebook. 2JA 273-79. In the videos he saw several firearms. 2JA 280-81. And in one edited video (posted on

February 28, 2016) Mr. Hager displayed what appeared to be "a baggy of narcotics" and "sniffs them." 2JA 295-96, 299, 301, 340-42 (acknowledging that he could not "definitively say it was methamphetamine"), 350 (the video "appeared to be edited").³

On April 8, 2016, Sergeant Rowe applied for a search warrant to search Mr. Hager's home for "firearms, ammunition, and indicia of occupancy." 2JA 306. Notably, he did not apply for a warrant to search for narcotics or evidence of narcotics use. 2JA 348. The search took place after Mr. Hager had left his home and had been taken into custody. 2JA 308.4 Mr. Hager's iPhone was taken from him.5 Sergeant Rowe sought a search warrant to search the iPhone as well. 2JA 321-22.

³ Sergeant Rowe did not do any investigation into whether Mr. Hager routinely used methamphetamine. 2JA 347-48.

⁴ For a description of the search of Mr. Hager's home, and firearms seized, see generally 2JA 360-99 (testimony of Detective Brian Orr). No narcotics were in the home. 2JA 396. Suspected paraphernalia—a glass pipe "commonly used to smoke methamphetamine"—was found in a drawer in the master bedroom. 2JA 412-13 (Detective Dach). The pipe however was not tested for residue and it is unknown whether it was ever used for an "illicit" purpose. There were no controlled substances found in the drawer or in the home. 3JA 473-76 (Detective Dach).
⁵ Sparks Police Detective Kevin Dach and other officers took Mr. Hager into custody at a Quik Stop minimart located in Sparks. 2JA 400-01, 403-04. Mr. Hager consented to a search of his car, and some ammunition was found. 2JA 404-05. But no controlled substances were found in the car. 3JA 477-78. And Mr. Hager did not appear to be under

In a subsequent interview, Mr. Hager confirmed that the firearms found in his home belonged to him. 2JA 311-12. According to Sergeant Rowe, in the same interview Mr. Hager stated that he was snorting meth in the video. 2JA 312-13. And in the same interview Mr. Hager told the sergeant that based on a diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), he had previously been admitted into Mental Health Court in Washoe County. 2JA 315-16. During the interview it did not appear that Mr. Hager was under the influence of methamphetamine. 2JA 358-59.

James Popovich, the manager of the specialty courts for the Second Judicial District, testified that the court's Mental Health Court was established under Chapter 176A of the Nevada Revised Statutes, that it is one of the court's multi-jurisdictional courts, and that it accepts referrals from other courts. 3JA 485-87. To be admitted into Mental Health Court, the applicant must have a diagnosed mental illness, which can include a finding of PTSD. 3JA 487-88. If a defendant's admission into Mental Health Court is by diversion (as opposed to as a condition of a grant of probation), his or her successful

the influence of methamphetamine at the time of his arrest. 3JA 478. Detective Dach took custody of Mr. Hager's iPhone. 2JA 405-06.

completion of the program results in the criminal case being dismissed. 3JA 500. A successful discharge and dismissal restores the defendant to his or her status before the arrest. 3JA 501. In 2013 Mr. Hager was referred to Mental Health Court by the Sixth Judicial District Court, and on May 7, 2013, following routine staffing, he was accepted into the program. 3JA 490-91, 506-08. He completed Mental Health Court in May 2014. 4JA 720-21.

Debbie Okuma, a presentence investigation specialist with the Division of Parole and Probation, testified that in 2013, in preparation of the presentence report she would file in Mr. Hager's Sixth Judicial Court case, she interviewed Mr. Hager. 3JA 520-25. According to Ms. Okuma, Mr. Hager—then 28 years old—admitted to regular use of methamphetamine when he was between 12 and 19 years of age, and that he "was addicted" at that time. 3JA 526, 532. He reported a onetime use of methamphetamine in January 2013. 3JA 526-27, 533. He also told her that in 2011 he had been addicted to OxyContin, a prescription medication. 3JA 527.

///

///

On March 6, 2015, Jason Edmonson, a sergeant with the Sparks Police Department, took possession of several firearms that belonged to Mr. Hager. 3JA 602-13. At the time there was no indication of Mr. Hager being under the influence of controlled substances, but Mr. Hager had consumed alcohol. 3JA 605. The firearms—the Colt 1911 and the Remington shotgun—were removed from Mr. Hager's home. 3JA 607-09. On August 20, 2015, Sparks Police officers took possession of Mr. Hager's Winchester 20-gauge shotgun. 3JA 614-19. Mr. Hager was intoxicated (alcohol) at the time. 3JA 618.

Joanna Bellamy, an evidence technician at the Sparks Police

Department, testified that between December 2015 and January 2016
she assisted Mr. Hager in getting his firearms back from the Sparks

Police Department. 4JA 639-41. She had him fill out an ATF Form

44736 as to the firearms to be released. 4JA 641. The firearms were a

Winchester shotgun, a Marlin rifle, a Browning rifle and a Colt 1911
handgun. 4JA 643, 656. Ms. Bellamy testified concerning the
background check she undertook before releasing the firearms,

⁶ The completed form was admitted at trial as Exhibit 98. 4JA 642. It is reproduced in the Joint Appendix at 1JA 129-36.

including running a criminal history which showed Mr. Hager's criminal case in the Sixth Judicial District Court as dismissed. 4JA 644-51. And on January 14, 2016 the firearms were released to Mr. Hager. 4JA 643, 657. Ms. Bellamy helped him carry the firearms to his car. 4JA 677-78.

Lori Renfroe, an evidence technician for the State of Nevada, testified that between February 2015 and August 2015 she helped Mr. Hager regain possession of his firearms—a SIG Sauer and a Bushmaster 223 assault rifle—that were in the custody of the State (as a result of his arrest in Humboldt County). 4JA 683-86, 705-06, 724. She explained that she sent an evidence release request to the Humboldt District Attorney's Office and, in February 2015 received authorization to release Mr. Hager's firearms to him any time after August 26, 2015. 4JA 686-88, 696. Ms. Renfroe also conducted a background check. 4JA 688-89. And on August 28, 2015, Ms. Renfroe returned Mr. Hager's firearms to him. 4JA 690-92.

D.

Ian Hager testified. He told the jury that he had been addicted to prescription medicine in 2011, and to methamphetamine between the

ages of 12 and 19. 4JA 707-08. Owing to a collection of serious life loss events in his family, in January 2013 he resorted to a onetime use of methamphetamine. 4JA 708-11.

In February 2013 Mr. Hager was arrested for outstanding warrants after being stopped on I-80 for speeding. 4JA 712, 830. He was charged with carrying a concealed weapon and for being a prohibited person in possession of a firearm. The possession charge was dismissed and he entered a guilty plea to the charge of carrying a concealed weapon. Following his guilty plea, Mr. Hager was diverted into Mental Health Court. 4JA 712-14, 719, 851. He actively participated in Mental Health Court for one year and was successfully discharged in May 2014. 4JA 720-21, 855. The case in Humboldt County was dismissed. 4JA 722.

Later, after being discharged from Mental Health Court, he contacted local and state police agencies to retrieve his firearms. In February 2015 he contacted the Nevada Highway Patrol and spoke with Ms. Renfroe. 4JA 727. She assisted him in getting back firearms—a SIG Sauer handgun and a Bushmaster assault rifle—that were in the State's possession. 4JA 727-33. In December 2015 he contacted the Sparks Police Department. After filing out and submitting an

application, Mr. Hager was contacted by the department's evidence technician to schedule a time to pick up his firearms. 4JA 740-45. In January 2016 he was returned four or five guns including a Colt 1911 handgun and a Winchester 20-gauge shotgun. 4JA 748-49. Mr. Hager testified that the firearms found in his house on April 8, 2016 were the firearms that had been returned to him by the Sparks Police Department and the Nevada Highway Patrol. 4JA 785-88.

In January 2016 he attempted to get a better resolution out of his brother's case. 4JA 749-50. He spoke with Reno Police Detective Johnson, who ultimately told him that the case was closed and that his brother had died of methamphetamine intoxication. Mr. Hager was hurt and frustrated by this news. 4JA 750-51. In late February 2016 Mr. Hager made a video (which he shared with Detective Johnson) that mirrored a conversation they had. He wanted to get the detective's attention. 4JA 752-76.7 The video did not have the desired effect of getting the detective to reopen the investigation. 4JA 776-77. In fact the

⁷ The video is a dramatization suggesting that Mr. Hager's brother could not have died of methamphetamine intoxication. It purports to show Mr. Hager ingest a large amount of "methamphetamine." The substance was kosher salt and he did not ingest it. 4JA 754, 759, 761, 769-72.

detective did not contact him again; which was "part of his own doing."

4JA 776. On April 8, 2016 Mr. Hager was arrested by Sparks Police.

4JA 777, 785.

Mr. Hager testified that after his ex-wife left him he stopped sleeping in the master bedroom. 4JA 780. He recognized the glass pipe the police found in a junk drawer in the bedroom. He testified that he did not recall if he had used it in January 2013, but definitely did not use it in 2012, 2014, 2015 or 2016. 4JA 782-84, 817. Mr. Hager further testified that he was not addicted to methamphetamine in November 2015 or at any time up until the day he was arrested. 4JA 787.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State charged Mr. Hager with six counts of possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. Mr. Hager did not contest the possession element of the offenses. The State alleged that Mr. Hager was prohibited from possessing firearms on the basis that he had been "adjudicated mentally ill" or had been "committed to a mental health facility," or because he was an "unlawful user of" or "addicted to" controlled substances. The State's evidence failed to support either of the alleged prohibitions. The State did not prove that Mr. Hager had

ever been "adjudicated mentally ill" or had ever been committed to a mental health facility. At best the State showed that Mr. Hager had been admitted into the Second Judicial District Court's Mental Health Court program, and had successfully completed it. The admission into Mental Health Court did not require Mr. Hager to be "adjudicated as mentally ill," and does not constitute an adjudication as mentally ill.

Nevada law does not define "an unlawful user" of a controlled substance, but the Ninth Circuit has. There, to prove an accused to be an "unlawful user of" controlled substances the government must prove that the accused took drugs with regularity, over an extended period of time, and contemporaneously with his possession of a firearm. This Court should adopt this test. Applying this three-prong test to the facts of this case, Mr. Hager cannot be deemed an "unlawful user of" controlled substances. Similarly, under Nevada's definition of "drug addict"—borrowed from NRS 458.290—Mr. Hager cannot be deemed a person "addicted to" controlled substances. Because the evidence was insufficient to sustain any of Mr. Hager's convictions beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court must reverse.

NRS 202.360 does not expressly contain a criminal intent element, but criminal intent cannot be entirely dispensed with. That a statute does not specify any required mental state does not mean that one does not exist. Wrongdoing must be conscious to be criminal. And here the Court should read an intent element into the statute such that under the facts of this case—which showed that the firearms in question had been recently returned to Mr. Hager by both the Sparks Police Department and by the Nevada Highway Patrol after completing background checks—Mr. Hager cannot be found liable if he truly believed that his firearms had been properly returned to him by city and state law enforcement agencies.

The district court's instructions on the elements of the charged offenses suffered many infirmities. Chief among them was the fact that the district court read a "willfulness" intent element into the statute but did not bother to define "willfulness." Instead, as to all of the offenses, he announced that they were "strict liability" crimes. And, notwithstanding willfulness, that a prohibited person "need not have known that his possession of the firearm was illegal, and need not have intended to violate the law. Ignorance or misapprehension of the law is

not a defense to [these crimes]." This was a misleading, confusing, and incorrect statement of the law which this Court, on de novo review, must correct. Even if the district court's reading of a willfulness element into NRS 202.360 was permissible, the district court should have also instructed the jury that in order to establish a willful violation in this case, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that when Mr. Hager possessed the firearms, he knew his conduct was unlawful and he intended to disobey the law.

Finally, the district court abused its discretion when it allowed the State to use certain videos in its "rebuttal" case where the predicate for their admission late in trial—having previously been deemed inadmissible—was an arbitrary and capricious finding by the district court that an innocuous statement *cum* question posed by defense counsel to Mr. Hager had "opened the door" to the admission of prejudicial, confusing, and misleading evidence.

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