IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IAN ANDRE HAGER,

No. 72613

Electronically Filed Oct 12 2017 10:43 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Washoe County Public Defender

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender P. O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS
Washoe County District Attorney

TERRENCE P. McCARTHY Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

III. ARGUMENT

- 1. <u>The Judgment is Supported by Sufficient Evidence</u>.
 - a. Being an addict or user

The issues on appeal are somewhat entangled, with issues of the instructions being intermingled with issues of the sufficiency of the evidence. The State will attempt to unwind the arguments.

Because the remedy attending a claim of insufficient evidence is different from the remedy attending a claim of error in the instructions, it seems that the claim of insufficiency should be based on the elements in the instructions. *United States v. Inman*, 588 F.3d 742 (8th Cir. 2009). Any argument concerning the instructions should be viewed separately from the argument concerning the sufficiency of the evidence. *Id.* If that is the case, then the evidence is sufficient.

The standard of review is well known. The relevant inquiry for this court is "'whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Koza v. State, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984). Here, the element of possession or ownership is not disputed. Appellant Hager contests only the issue of whether he was a prohibited person. One of the prohibitions was being addicted to a controlled substance. It is clear enough that in 2012 Hager was addicted, as that was established by his own testimony and prior statements to a probation officer. 4 AA 839. He seems to now claim that he had a spontaneous cure at some unknown time. The evidence allowed the conclusion that the claim of a spontaneous cure was false and that, close to the time of his arrest, he was still deep within it. The jury saw a video of Hager ingesting methamphetamine, contemporaneously with his ownership and possession of firearms. Although Hager tried to persuade the jury that he was just simulating the act, and that the substance was actually salt, the jury could elect to believe his statement to the police that he had indeed ingested methamphetamine. In addition, there was a room

¹ Medical science seems to scoff at the idea of a "cure" for an addiction, and the notion of a spontaneous cure is laughable, but that need not drive the decision of this Court.

in his house that had a great deal of drug paraphernalia and empty baggies. His shoes were under the bed in the room with many baggies and a meth pipe. 4 JA 781. He initially claimed that he only used that room to shower, but then he also admitted that his clothes were in that room. He admitted that he sometimes would drink alcohol in that room and the evidence showed a substantial number of empty beer bottles in the room with the pipe and the baggies. Hager tried to claim that the baggies had never held drugs and they were there with the pipe simply because it was a "junk drawer," although he admitted that the meth pipe in the drawer with all the empty baggies was indeed his pipe. 4 JA 817. The jury was not required to believe that he just happened to store empty baggies in that drawer with his meth pipe. The jury might have concluded that the story was sufficiently unusual as to be disbelieved, simply because most people keep their baggies in a kitchen, not in a drawer in a nightstand in a bedroom with a meth pipe. Among the things the jury could consider is Hager's description of the room as a "man cave," coupled with the evidence that he lived alone. 4 JA 781. The jury was not required to believe his story, of course, and could instead conclude that Hager was an addict in 2012 and remained an addict until the time of his arrest.

The jury was also instructed that being a "user" of drugs was also a disability. However, the court also instructed the jury that they need not agree on which theory was proven. Therefore, it is not necessary to examine the sufficiency of both theories. *See Griffin v. United States*, 502 U.S. 46, 56-57, 112 S.Ct. 466 (1991). Nevertheless, the State also contends that the same evidence mentioned above allowed the alternate or additional conclusion that Hager was indeed a "user" of illegal drugs until the time of his arrest. "User" would seem to be someone who regularly uses drugs, whether addicted or not. Certainly one who is addicted and is recorded on video ingesting what is admittedly methamphetamine can be considered a "user" of drugs.

b. Having been adjudicated mentally ill

A second set of crimes were based on the disability of having been adjudicated mentally ill. *See* NRS 202.360. The evidence was clear that Hager had been ordered into, and accepted into the Washoe County Mental Health Court. Hager contends that the evidence was insufficient because the findings that he was mentally ill were not in a final, appealable order. Again, there was no instruction with that definition and so the analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence should not turn on that definition of "adjudicated". *See* Instruction at 1 JA 163. One can argue that the

instructions were in error, but the question of the sufficiency of the evidence should turn on the evidence as applied to the instructions actually given by the court. *See United States v. Inman, supra.*

The instructions defined "adjudicated" simply as "to rule upon judicially." 1 AA 163. By that definition, it is clear that the evidence was sufficient. For Hager to be admitted to the mental health court, it was necessary for at least one judge and one mental health professional to find that he was mentally ill with a qualifying diagnosis. 3 JA 503. That is, the evidence demonstrated that by being admitted to the mental health court he had been adjudicated mentally ill.

2. The Court Did Not Err in Relation to the Mens Rea.

The Opening Brief includes a discussion of the general principles that arise when a felony statute makes no reference to the *mens rea*. However, the discussion is general, without an assertion of error. Once one gets past the caption, the argument becomes slightly clearer. Hager simply asserts that this Court should find certain facts to be true, and then to declare, based on those facts, that Hager is not guilty of the crime. That is not the traditional role of this Court. The argument is defined by the last paragraph, in which appellant suggests that this Court should determine as

a matter of fact that Hager honestly believed he was allowed by law to own and possess his firearms. *See* Opening Brief at 34-35.

In general, this Court is ill-equipped to make factual findings and must instead rely on the trier of fact. *See Graves v. State*, 112 Nev. 118, 124, 912 P.2d 234, 238 (1996) ("The cold record is a poor substitute for demeanor observation."). The trier of fact in this case was instructed on the defense theory of estoppel/entrapment that law enforcement agencies returned Hager's guns to him some time earlier, but the jury rejected that defense. That may have been because the defendant did not testify that anyone told him that it was lawful for him to own or possess those guns. 4 JA 824. As the jury rejected the factual assertions in the Opening Brief, and there is no assignment of error associated with the argument, this Court should decline to substitute its judgment for that of the jury.

That being said, the State also contends that this crime ought not to be a specific intent crime. In general, possessory crimes require only knowledge, not some sort of specific intent. *See e.g., State v. Dougherty*, 86 Nev. 507, 471 P.3d 212 (1970) (knowledge of narcotic nature of the substance possessed); *Gray v. State*, 100 Nev. 556, 688 P.2d 313 (1984) (possession of stolen property). Here, Hager clearly understood that the things he owned were firearms. In addition, of course, the actor must be

acting voluntarily. That need not detain the Court because the jury was indeed instructed that a conviction required that the defendant act willfully. *See* 1 JA 163, 166. If the claim is that the court should have instructed the jury on some additional element, of some sort of specific intent, the State wonders what intent that would be. To the extent that Hager argues that the conviction would require some familiarity with the Nevada Criminal Code,² that has never been the rule of law in this State or any other state and the Court should reject it.

The Court may also note that the defendant himself asked to be assigned to the mental health court and the defendant himself provided the evidence that he was a drug addict and a user of drugs. Thus his knowledge of his status seems to be established.

Because the argument concerning the *mens rea* does not address any error by the district court, this Court should simply affirm the judgment of conviction.

3. The District Court Did Not Err to the Prejudice of Appellant by Giving Instruction 16.

Hager next attacks a couple of jury instructions. Instruction 16 included definitions of an "addict" and a "user." 1 AA 161. In the district

² As suggested in the instruction proposed by the defense but rejected by the court.

court, Hager argued that the court should give no instruction at all and should leave it to the jury to decide who is an addict and who is a user.

5 AA 9-7. As the instruction that was given increased the prosecution's burden of proof beyond the silence proposed by Hager, it is difficult to see how he could be prejudiced by that increased burden.

Hager argues that the court erred in using the definitions taken from Nevada statutes relating to drug courts. *See* NRS 458.290. The argument asserts that by including the phrase "as used in" certain statutes, the Legislature clearly intended that the definition would not be applied to any other situation. In contrast, Hager asked the court to use the definition from Federal administrative law, in 27 CFR 478.11. The State notes that the regulation begins with the same limitation, "when used in this part. . . ." Why that would be more applicable than a Nevada statute is a bit unclear.

The State concedes that the terms "addict" and "user" could be defined in many ways, and that they could also be left undefined, to let the jury use the common meaning. Indeed, one court cited in the Opening Brief ruled just that way, holding that the term "addicted" was sufficiently clear to obviate the need for any additional definition. *United States v. Grover*, 364 F. Supp. 2d 1298, 1302 (D. Utah 2005). One could also use common medical terminology (although the Diagnostic and Statistical

Manual defines "dependence," not "addiction.") One could use the various definitions used in 12 step groups such as Narcotics Anonymous, although it seems unlikely that the Legislature intended such a definition. Using the definition in NRS 458.290 has the advantage of having been approved by the Nevada Legislature. In addition, using the definition of NRS 458.290 would seem to comport with the meaning of the term in common usage. So, the State contends that the portion of the instruction defining an addict was not error, and certainly not prejudicial error.

Hager also seems to suggest that a "user" must be using "regularly" for some unknown period. He relies, again, on federal law, as set out in *Grover, supra*. That additional verbiage does not seem to be any more useful or definite, and it is not supported by any Nevada laws.

4. The District Court Did Not Err to the Prejudice of Appellant by Giving Instruction 18.

Hager next turns to instruction 18. That instruction concerned one who has been adjudicated mentally ill. The argument in the district court was such that the instruction should be the same as is used in federal courts. The State merely notes that the federal statute on the subject is different from the Nevada statute. NRS 202.360 uses this language: "has been adjudicated as mentally ill *or* has been committed to any mental

health facility by a court of this State, any other state or the United States" (emphasis added). In contrast, the relevant federal law refers to those who have been determined to be mentally "defective." 18 U.S.C.A. § 922(g)(4). That is reason enough to conclude that they are not the same.

The instruction defining "mental illness" was taken verbatim from NRS 433.164. Although other definitions might be available, including the common understanding, it seems wise to use the more restrictive definition enacted by the Legislature in that statute.

The suggestion that the court should limit the term "adjudicated" to final-appealable judgments has no support in the language of any statute. If the Legislature wanted to enact such a law, they could have. But, they have not. Indeed, in a related but not quite applicable decision, *Vu v. Second Judicial District Court*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 21, 371 P.3d 1015 (2016), this Court held that a district court must transmit an order of commitment to the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal History even before the order of commitment is final. The reasoning should apply here as well.

///

///

5. <u>The Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Admitting Video Recordings.</u>

Prior to trial, there was some litigation concerning various video recordings of Hager. Those recordings of Hager were made by Hager. Those recordings do not seem to be included in the appendix. If they are not, then the Court may disregard the argument. *See Carson Ready Mix v. First National Bank of Nevada*, 97 Nev. 474, 635 P.2d 474 (1981) (appellant has the burden of providing this Court with an adequate record).

Prior to trial, the district court judge initially ruled that the videos would be excluded as being more prejudicial than probative. After the defendant testified, the court reconsidered that ruling and determined that Hager had "opened the door" and put the contents of the videos at issue. Now, on appeal, the focus of the argument is based on the notion that the analysis changed when counsel asked Hager if the failure of police officers to keep in touch with him was his own doing. The argument seems to be based on the unspoken premise that a pretrial ruling *in limine* is carved in stone and a court may not revisit the issue without good cause. There is no such rule of law. Instead, a district court judge may simply change his/her mind as the trial progresses. *See* discussion in *Richmond v. State*, 118 Nev. 924, 59 P.3d 1249 (2002).

Evidentiary issues concerning the relative degree of prejudice and probative force are addressed to the sound discretion of the district court. *Colon v. State*, 113 Nev. 484, 491, 938 P.2d 714, 719(1997). The circumstances that led to the investigation might never have been known to the jury, as the district court originally ruled, but when counsel suggested that there was something to be interested in, the court did not err in allowing that subject to be explored with the videos.

During the examination of Hager, there was a concerted effort to portray him as a responsible gun owner who was just victimized by an uncaring police agency. See e.g., 4 AA 724 (history of responsible gun use as a bounty hunter); 4 AA 726 (gun safety training); 4 AA 751 (opinion on negligent investigation by police); 4 AA 753 (testimony of sending links to videos to Detective Johnson); 4 AA 761 (Hager claims that simulating ingesting a large quantity of methamphetamine was just "theatrics."); 4 AA 776 (suggesting negligence by Detective in refusing to investigate). That latter comment, suggesting that there was something wrong with Detective Johnson not initiating more contact with Hager, that alone, would call for contrary evidence showing that the detective chose not to continue contact with Hager due to his threats. See also, 4 AA 771 (making the point of the defendant having a bible with him in a video). The defendant

acknowledged that the lack of additional contact with police was his own

doing, but when that is coupled with the other testimony attempting to

establish that he was just trying to expose the negligence of the police, the

district court did not err in allowing the prosecutor to dispel the notion of

retribution by an uncaring police department. That is, because of the way

that Hager chose to testify, the probative value of his threats, leading to the

investigation, greatly increased. When one tries to bring in nullification,

tries to appeal to the jury's outrage about this poor man when he claims he

was just trying to get an investigation going, one does so at the risk that the

court will allow evidence to negate the attempt at nullification.

CONCLUSION IV.

Hager was fairly tried and convicted. The judgment of the Second

Judicial District Court should be affirmed.